
The Park District of Oak Park welcomes the opportunity to assist residents and visitors with disabilities. If you 
need special accommodations for this meeting, please call (708) 725-2050 or via email at Chris.Lindgren@pdop.org. 

In partnership with the community, we enrich lives by providing meaningful experiences through programs, parks, and facilities. 

PARK DISTRICT OF OAK PARK 
Committee of the Whole Meeting 

John Hedges Administrative Center 
218 Madison Street, Oak Park, Illinois 60302 

Thursday, December 7, 2023, 7:30pm 

AGENDA 

I. Call to Order/Roll Call

II. Public Comment
Each person is limited to three minutes. The Board may set a limit on the total amount of time
allocated to public comments.

III. Parks and Planning Committee – Commissioner Worley-Hood
A. Longfellow Master Plan Update Approval*
B. Fox Master Plan Update Approval*
C. Tree Pruning & Removal Contract*
D. Voltpost Electrical Vehicle Charger Contract*

IV. Administration and Finance Committee – Commissioner Wick
A. 2024 Board Action Calendar*
B. Letter to WSSRA of Appointment of Representatives*
C. Bi-Annual Review of Executive Session Minutes*
D. PACT Agreements*
E. PDOP/Township for Bus Agreement*
F. IT Contractual Services Agreement*
G. 5 Year Strategic Comprehensive Master Plan Professional Services*
H. PDOP/D97 IGA for Shared Facilities*

V. Recreation and Facility Program Committee – Commissioner Lentz

VI. New Business

VII. Closed Session

VIII. Adjournment

* Indicates information attached.
** Indicates information to be provided before or at the meeting.
Update/Recap indicates verbal report provided at meeting no materials attached.

mailto:Chris.Lindgren@pdop.org


Park District of Oak Park  
 218 Madison Street ▪ Oak Park, Illinois 60302 ▪ phone: (708) 725-2000 ▪ fax: (708) 725-2301 ▪ www.pdop.org 

Memo
To: Jake Worley-Hood, Chair, Parks and Planning Committee 

Board of Park Commissioners 

From: Jan Arnold, Executive Director 

Date: December 1, 2023 

Re: Longfellow Master Plan Update 

Statement 

The Longfellow Park Master Plan was originally developed in 2007, following the passing of the Renew Our Parks 
referendum.  Updates to the sports field were made in 2014 after an update meeting with the community in March 2014.  
Park District policy requires that each park master plan be reviewed at least once every ten years. 

Discussion 

Planning Resources Inc. created the Longfellow Park Master Plan through a series of focus groups and community meetings.  
Phase I improvements were completed in 2009.  They also handed the update meetings and improvements in 2014. 

The Park District once again engaged Planning Resources Inc. (PRI) to assist in facilitating the Longfellow Park master plan 
review that was held on Wednesday, October 4 via Teams.   There were 38 community members who attended the community 
meeting to review the existing master plan and provide feedback for the proposed Phase III improvements.  The presentation 
deck and recording of the meeting were also placed on the Park District website for residents to view if they were not able to 
attend in person. 

Planning Resources Inc. will provide an updated Phase III to the Longfellow Park Master Plan at the December 7, 
Committee of the Whole Meeting.  Phase III improvements include redevelopment of the tennis courts as well as updating 
the playground and splash pad amenities.  

The Park District has $1.8M allocated in its Capital Improvement Plan over 2025-2027. 

Recommendation 

Darrell Garrison from PRI will be at the Park Board COW Meeting on December 7 to provide an overview of the meeting and an 
updated master plan for Board consideration.  

Attachments:    Longfellow Master Plan Phase III 



0 10 20 30 FTN

Longfellow Park
Park District of Oak Park
Concept Plan Enlargement



Longfellow Park
Park District of Oak Park
Concept Plan Enlargement

0 15 30 45 FTN



Longfellow Park
Park District of Oak Park
Perspective 1



Longfellow Park
Park District of Oak Park
Perspective 2



Longfellow Park
Park District of Oak Park
Perspective 3



Longfellow Park
Park District of Oak Park
Perspective 4



Park District of Oak Park  
 218 Madison Street ▪ Oak Park, Illinois 60302 ▪ phone: (708) 725-2000 ▪ fax: (708) 725-2301 ▪ www.pdop.org 

 

Memo 

To: Jake Worley-Hood, Chair, Parks and Planning Committee 
Board of Park Commissioners 

From: Jan Arnold, Executive Director 

Date: December 1, 2023 

Re: Fox Master Plan Update  

Statement 
 

The Fox Park Master Plan was originally developed in 2007 and an update was handled in 2014.  Park District policy 
requires that each park master plan be reviewed at least once every ten years.   
 
Discussion 
 

Planning Resources Inc. was hired in 2005, to create the Fox Park Master Plan which was developed through a series of focus 
groups and community meetings.  Phase I improvements were completed at Fox Park in 2009.   

The PDOP engaged Planning Resources Inc. to assist in facilitating the master plan review for Fox Park in 2014 and oversee the 
improvement completed in 2014. 

Since the master plan was completed in 2014, staff handled the 2023 master plan review.  A community meeting was held via 
Teams on Wednesday, November 2.  There were 28 community members who attended the meeting.  The Park District also 
posted the presentation deck and the recorded meeting for other residents to view.   

Based on the feedback received, staff are recommending playground updates and changes in 2026.  Two of the recommendations 
from 2014 resurface again regarding swing location and desire for additional shade.   Some individuals in attendance shared 
concern for safety accessing via crossing Oak Park Avenue to reach the park and they have been encouraged to reach out to the 
Village.  Some individuals representing Oak Park Youth Baseball Softball asked the Park District to consider adding synthetic 
turf and sports field lights.  Staff do not believe that Fox is the correct location for these types of amenities.  Additionally, the 
2012 Sport Field Study identified the need for three synthetic turf surfaces in Oak Park and in partnership with D97, the Park 
District has invested in four fields to support field use needs. 

The 2024-2028 CIP has $600,000 allocation in 2026 for Fox Park playground improvements.    

Recommendation 

Staff recommends approval of the Fox Park Master Plan for updating the playground. The cost of the surface are not included it 
the pricing and would be purchased via joint purchase agreement for approximately $100K. 

 
 
 
Attachments:     Fox Park Master Plan playground with cost 
 



Fox Park 
Playground - 

BIG KIDS



Fox Park Playground – SMALL KIDS





FOX PARK

OPTION 1

OAK PARK, IL

SMARTPLAY/PLAYBOOSTER

QTY. NO. DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE PRICE

Smart Play 2-5

1 223857A Loft DB
1 21,270$      

includes: Alphabet Panel

Belt Climber

Belt Seat

Bubble Window

Clock

Colors Mat

Counting Panel

Crawl Tunnel

Faces Panel

Find-It Sign

Flower Gear Panel

Flower/Leaf Spinners

Image Panel

Lower Level Clubhouse

Mailbox Talk Tube

Seats

Shapes Panel

Slide

Vegetable/Leaf Sliders

1 182503A Welcome Sign (LSI Provided) Ages 2-5 years Direct Bury - 

Quantis 5-12

1 CP028459 QUANTIS M.2 DB Original master design 94,500$      

1 182503C Welcome Sign (LSI Provided) Ages 5-12 years Direct Bury - 

ALSO:

1 201548A Blender Spinner Steel Posts and DB Only1 3,765          

1 201552A Gyro Twister Spinner Add-On DB Only1 2,340          

1 152179A Saddle Spinner DB 16"Height 1,245          

1 247189A Chill Spinner DB 2,495          

SUBTOTAL 9,845$        

EQUIPMENT TOTAL 125,615$    

November 25, 2023



8% CONTRACT DISCOUNT (10,049)      

SHIPPING 7,950          

TOTAL 123,516$    

Additional Work

EQUIPMENT INSTALLATION 50,246$      

REMOVAL & DISPOSAL OF EXISTING EQUIPMENT 2,500          

EXCAVATION & GRAVEL COMPACTION FOR TURF 12,500        

Total Cost of the Project 188,762$    

OKP23FOX1-RB



Park District of Oak Park 
 218 Madison Street  ▪  Oak Park, Illinois 60302  ▪  ph: (708) 725-2000  ▪ fx: (708) 383-5702 ▪  www.pdop.org 

Memo 
To: Jake Worley-Hood, Chair, Parks & Planning Committee 

Board of Park Commissioners 

From: Chris Lindgren, Superintendent of Parks & Planning 

Cc: Jan Arnold, Executive Director  

Date: December 7, 2023 

Re: Tree Removal and Pruning Contract  

Statement 
The Park District of Oak Park partnered with the Village of Oak Park to seek proposals from qualified arboriculture 
contractors for aerial pruning of trees and the removal of selected trees on Park District property on an as needed 
basis. 

Discussion 
The contract will cover pruning and removal of trees on Park District properties.  This contract was bid with the Village of 
Oak Park as well in an effort to gain more competitive pricing by increasing the scope of work.  There are separate contracts 
for the Village and Park District.  The properties listed for the contract are Barrie, Carroll, Euclid, Maple & Rehm Parks for 
year one pruning and other parks will be negotiated for year two and three.  Pruning will be performed on trees with a 
greater than 8” diameter in accordance with industry standards.  Tree removals will be performed on an as needed basis at 
the Park District’s request on trees with a greater than 10” diameter.  Both non-emergency and emergency call out prices for 
tree removal will be outlined in the contract. 

The selected contractor will be required to supply all labor, supervision, tools, equipment, materials and supplies, and other 
means necessary for completing the work.  Any required permits will be the responsibility of the contractor to obtain.  The 
selected contractor will also be required to provide certificates of insurance coverage. 

The District and Village went out to a public bid on August 9, 2023, and a pre bid meeting was held on August 23, 2023.  
This mandatory pre-bid meeting had a total of four firms in attendance.  Three of the four firms from the pre-bid meeting 
submitted bids on Friday, September 1, 2023.  The bids came in very competitive with the lowest overall bid from Davis 
Tree Care.  The Park District has worked with Davis Tree Care for many years as they are the closest company to Oak Park 
that bid.  They previously held the contract about six years ago and performed well.  Davis has also done work in the Village 
this year and have proven to be a responsive and responsible contractor.   The bid amounts fall within the funds budgeted for 
fiscal year 2024.    

Recommendation 
Staff recommend Davis Tree Care, Inc. from Forest Park, IL for the pruning and removals at a low bid amount for a 
total of $24,640. 

Attachment:  Bid Tabulation 



No. D.B.H Unit Price Total by class Unit Price Total by class Unit Price Total by class Unit Price Total by class

1 1" ‐ 4" No Bid No Bid $22.00 19,756.00$             $29.00 26,042.00$         $60.00 53,880.00$        

2 5" ‐ 6" No Bid No Bid $26.00 14,508.00$             $39.00 21,762.00$         $60.50 33,759.00$        

3 7" ‐ 12" No Bid No Bid $44.00 65,736.00$             $70.00 104,580.00$       $85.50 127,737.00$      

4 12" ‐ 20" No Bid No Bid $92.00 198,720.00$           $238.00 514,080.00$       $99.00 213,840.00$      

5 21"‐30" No Bid No Bid $130.00 167,700.00$           $330.00 425,700.00$       $165.75 213,817.50$      

6 31" and Over  No Bid No Bid $185.00 59,385.00$             $460.00 147,660.00$       $262.50 84,262.50$        

No Bid 525,805.00$           1,239,824.00$   727,296.00$      

No. D.B.H
Avg 

Dia
Est. # Bid Price Total by class Bid Price Total by class Bid Price Total by class Bid Price Total by class

1 0"‐11" 10 1 $3.31 33.10$                 No Bid No Bid $19.00 190.00$               No Bid No Bid

2 12"‐18" 15 5 $8.27 620.25$               No Bid No Bid $49.00 3,675.00$           No Bid No Bid

3 19"‐24" 21 8 $12.13 2,037.84$           No Bid No Bid $70.00 11,760.00$         No Bid No Bid

4 25"‐30" 27 14 $14.33 5,416.74$           No Bid No Bid $79.00 29,862.00$         No Bid No Bid

5 31"‐36" 33 14 $18.74 8,657.88$           No Bid No Bid $90.00 41,580.00$         No Bid No Bid

6 37" and Over 38 8 $18.74 5,696.96$           No Bid No Bid $95.00 28,880.00$         No Bid No Bid

22,462.77$         No Bid 115,947.00$       No Bid

No. D.B.H
Avg 

Dia
Est. # Bid Price Total by class Bid Price Total by class Bid Price Total by class Bid Price Total by class

1 0"‐11" 10 1 $8.28 82.80$                 No Bid No Bid $18.00 180.00$               No Bid No Bid

2 12"‐18" 15 27 $12.68 5,135.40$           No Bid No Bid $49.00 19,845.00$         No Bid No Bid

3 19"‐24" 21 44 $21.50 19,866.00$         No Bid No Bid $70.00 64,680.00$         No Bid No Bid

4 25"‐30" 26 41 $25.36 27,033.76$         No Bid No Bid $79.00 84,214.00$         No Bid No Bid

5 31"‐36" 33 23 $31.43 23,855.37$         No Bid No Bid $90.00 68,310.00$         No Bid No Bid

6 37" and Over 41 14 $38.59 22,150.66$         No Bid No Bid $95.00 54,530.00$         No Bid No Bid

98,123.99$         No Bid 291,759.00$       No Bid

120,586.76$       No Bid 407,706.00$       No Bid

No Bid No Bid

No Bid No Bid

No Bid No Bid

No Bid No Bid

No Bid No Bid

No Bid No Bid

No. Grind Type Bid Price Total Bid Price Total Bid Price Total Bid Price Total

1 Full Grind $275.63 55,126.00$         No Bid No Bid No Bid No Bid No Bid No Bid

No.

1

2

3

4

5

No.

1

2

3

4

5

6

Laborer $55.13 $100.00 $105.00 $90.00

No Bid

No Bid

No Bid

No Bid

No Bid

No Bid

0"‐10"

10.1" ‐ 18"

18.1"‐24"

24.1"‐30"

30.1"‐36"

36.1" and Over

$10.00

$16.00

$23.00

$29.00 $85.00

$90.00

$95.00

1 man Semi Tractor‐trailer $132.30 $125.00 $250.00

1 man Aerial Lift Truck $132.30 $125.00 $110.00 $90.00

1 man Log Loader $132.30 $125.00 $110.00 $125.00

2 men Chipper truck w/chipper $198.45 $200.00 $210.00 $180.00

$ Price per inchD.B.H $ Price per inch

$38.00

$43.00

$ Price per inch

$23.00

$63.00

$70.00

$ Price per inch

$30.00

$30.00

$48.00

$58.00

$75.00

$80.00

$3,600.00

$5,000.00

$10,500.00

$13,500.00$7,920.00

$6,000.00

Laborer $55.13 $110.00 $135.00 $125.00

1 man Semi Tractor‐trailer $132.30 $140.00 $300.00

1 man Aerial Lift Truck $132.30 $160.00 $140.00 $125.00

1 man Log Loader

A&B Tree Service Davis Tree Care, Inc.

$24,260.00

$8,800.00

Total:

2 men Chipper truck w/chipper $198.45 $260.00 $270.00 $250.00

$132.30 $160.00 $140.00 $150.00

Kramer Tree Specialist Winkler Services LLC

Carroll Park (22 Trees)

Euclid Park (30 Trees)

Maple Park (110 Trees

Rehm Park (99 Trees)

No Bid

No Bid

No Bid

No Bid

$1,760.00

No Bid

Winkler Services LLC

1 man Aerial Lift Truck $132.30 $140.00 No Bid

Summer Removal Total:

2 men Chipper truck w/chipper

$11,450.00

1 man Crane $132.30 $225.00 $350.00

1 man Semi Tractor‐trailer

Laborer $125.00

1 man Crane $132.30 $225.00 No Bid

Winter Removal Total:

A&B Tree Service Kramer Tree Specialist Winkler Services LLC

A&B Tree Service Kramer Tree Specialist

$132.30 $140.00 No Bid

1 man Semi Tractor‐trailer $132.30 $140.00

$110.00

$198.45

$132.30

$132.30

$132.30

$55.13

$270.00

$300.00

$140.00

$140.00

$250.00

1 man Log Loader

A&B Tree Service

$140.00

Total:

Davis Tree Care, Inc.

$260.00

$160.00

$160.00

1494

2160

$198.45 $270.00 No Bid

Total Removal Price:

Davis Tree Care, Inc.

Davis Tree Care, Inc.

2024 Parkway Tree Cycle Pruning 

Village of Oak Park

2024 Cycle Pruning Emergency Call Out Rates Per Hour

2024 Winter Parkway Tree Removals

2024 Summer Parkway Tree Removals

2024 Parkway Tree Removal Emergency Call Out Rates Per Hour

Winkler Services LLCKramer Tree Specialist

$135.00

$125.00

$150.00

Est. #

898

558

1290

321

2 men Chipper truck w/chipper

1 man Aerial Lift Truck

2024 Parkway Tree Stump Removals

2024 Parkway Restoration Rate per Square Yard

Parkway Restoration with Sod $11.03 No Bid No Bid

Laborer $55.13 $135.00 No Bid

Est. #

200

A&B Tree Service Kramer Tree Specialist Winkler Services LLCDavis Tree Care, Inc.

No Bid

1 man Log Loader

Park District of Oak Park
2024 Park Tree Cycle Pruning 

2024 Park Tree Removals

2024 Emergency Call Out Rates Per Hour

2024 Alternative Non‐Emergency Call Out Rates Per Hour

THE VILLAGE AND PARK DISTRCIT OF OAK PARK ARE STILL WORKING TO CONFIRM THE QUALIFICATION 

OF BIDDERS.

$0.00 $24,640.00 $73,430.00 $38,600.00

$3,410.00

$6,130.00

$28,180.00

Park

Barrie Park (47 Trees)

A&B Tree Service Davis Tree Care, Inc. Kramer Tree Specialist Winkler Services LLC

No Bid $3,760.00

$2,400.00



Park District of Oak Park  
 218 Madison Street ▪ Oak Park, Illinois 60302 ▪ phone: (708) 725-2000 ▪ fax: (708) 725-2301 ▪ www.pdop.org 

 

Memo 

To: Jake Worley-Hood, Chair, Parks and Planning Committee 
Board of Park Commissioners 

From: Chris Lindgren, Superintendent of Parks & Planning 

CC: Jan Arnold, Executive Director 

Date: December 1, 2023 

Re: Voltpost Electrical Vehicle Charger Contract  

Statement 

The Park District has been a true leader in sustainability for not only our community, but many agencies at the state and 
national levels.  We have a track record of looking into innovative ways for our agency to move the needle in the right 
direction for the environment.  As an active member of PlanItGreen’s Core Team and the Cross Community Climate 
Collaborative (C4), we were introduced to a new firm called Voltpost.  Voltpost is based in New York City and has an 
innovative approach to our EV charging needs nationally.  

Discussion 

In June of 2023, the District saw a presentation at one of C4 meetings and made a connection with Voltpost’s 
team.  The basis for their design is to utilize existing power poles to mount their charger to in an effort to save on 
installations and for re-use of those poles that are typically in locations that can easily be used for charging 
vehicles.   

Voltpost has done test pilots with the Dept. of Transportation of New York City as well as the City of Detroit.  
There are not currently and installed in ComEd’s territory or the state of Illinois.  Hosting a pilot by PDOP would 
be beneficial to the Midwest’s need to move EV charging forward.  Oak Park’s EV count is rapidly rising and 
there are few public charging stations in the entire village with our spaces at 228 Madison being among them.   

The pricing for electrical rates would be determined by PDOP and we are looking to place a single double charger 
to charge two vehicles at Ridgeland Common Recreation Complex to take the place of the two spaces currently 
marked for “Low Emitting Vehicles Only.”  There are a large number of EV’s parked in the RCRC lot currently 
throughout the many programming hours showing a need.  RCRC is also close to many multi-family units that 
do not have a place to charge their vehicle depending on how we structure the allowed charging use to the public.   

Staff are working through the language of the agreement and terms for this contract with legal counsel. 

Recommendation 

Staff will bring a recommendation to Park Board for consideration and approval at the December Regular Board 
Meeting.   



January
All IPRA Conference - January 25-27, 2024

Mitch/Scott R 2023 Program Scholarship and CDM Report
Mitch R 2023 Performance Measures Year in Review
Mitch C Local Government Efficiency Act (2033)
Mitch C 2023 Tax Year Levy - Abatement Resolution for 2023 Levy Adjustment

Maureen C PACT Facility Use Agreement for Festival Theatre (2025)
Maureen/Mitch C Bus Lease Agreement (2029)

Ann Marie C Community Survey Results Presentation
Chris C Lindberg Park Improvements (repair & improve tennis courts)
Chris C Scoville Park Improvements (tennis court improvements)

Bill C Rehm Pool Professional Fee Approval

February
Jan R 2023 PDOP Annual Report

Mitch C 2023 Facility Report Card 
Susan R Annual Historic Properties Operations Report

Maureen R Annual Recreation Report
Bill R Annual Special Facilities Report

Board/Jan R Community Service Awards Presented
Chris C Andersen Park Improvement Contract (2025)

Jan E Tax Efficiency Task Force Meeting 2 (after COW)

March
Jan R Executive Director’s Annual Performance Review

ESAC/Patti R Environmental Sustainability Advisory Committee (ESAC) Update
WSSRA R WSSRA Annual Report Update

Jan/Paula C Agreement with Service Employees International Union (Expires 2024)
Patti C Annual Oak Park Conservatory Operations Report

Patti/FOPCON C FOPCON Update
Patti C IPRA Environmental Report Card (2025)
Patti C IPM Policy Update (2028)
Chris C Cheney Mansion Building Improvements (tuck pointing & electrical work)
Chris C Dole Center Building Improvements (window replacements & tuck point)
Chris C Conservatory Building Improvement (vestibule & discovery garden fence)

                                Park District of Oak Park
                                     2024 Board Action Calendar



Page 2  2024 Board Action Calendar  

April
All April 8 - Park District of Oak Park 112th Birthday 

Mitch R 2024 Performance Measure 1st Quarter Review
Jan C D200 IGA - Facilities (2026)
Bill C GRC - Flooring Replacement Contractor Approval
Bill C Beverage and Snack Vending Services (2026)
Jan R Park District Citizen Committee (PDCC) Update
Jan R Parks Foundation Annual Update

Maureen C Apparel Bid (2025) 
Chris R Barrie Foundation Repair Contract
Chris R D97 Turf Replacement Update

Jan E Tax Efficiency Task Force Meeting 3 (after COW)

May
Edith/Jan/Board C Appointment of Board Officers and Board Committees
Mitch/Attorney C Review of Ethics Ordinance (Every Year)

Jan C Youth Engagement Agreement/Township (2024) 
Jan R IAPD Legislative Day Update 
Jan Spring Park Tour 
Jan C D97 Fields IGA (2024)

Jan/Mitch C Managed IT Contract (2024)
Maureen C Collaboration for Early Childhood Agreement (2025) 

Chris C Admin Center Building Improvements (charging stations & electrical)

June
Jan/Mitch C Austin Trust Update 

Mitch C 2023 Audit Report Presentation 
Edith/Jan C Bi-Annual Review of Executive Session Minutes

Mitch/Jan C 2025 Budget Timeline/Guidelines
Paula/Jan C Compensation Study (2028) 

Chris R PlanItGreen Update (2024)
Bill C RCRC - Concrete and Crack Seal Approval
Bill C Rehm Pool Contract Approval
Jan C Board Retreat 6/18/2024

July
Mitch C Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) Update
Mitch R 2024 Performance Measure 2nd Quarter Review

August
Jan R Comprehensive Strategic Master Plan Update

PH/Jan/Maureen R Pleasant Home Foundation Annual Update



Page 3  2024 Board Action Calendar  

September
Jan/Edith C Community Service Award–Nominations Gathered
Jan/Edith C Elected Officials BBQ Update

Jan  Fall Park Tour 
Mitch C Draft 2024 Tax Levy 

Mitch/Jan B Budget Meeting September 26
Jan C PDOP/D200 IGA Agreement for RCRC (2047)

October
Jan C NRPA Conference, October 8-10
Jan IAPD Legal Symposium

Mitch B Draft Budget Document Delivered
Mitch B Budget and Appropriation Ordinance (release for public inspection)
Mitch R 2024 Performance Measure 3rd Quarter Review

Mitch/Jan B Budget Meeting October 3
Mitch C Copier Agreement (2024) 
Mitch C Audit Engagement Letter (2025) 

Jan C 2025-2027 Strategic Plan Approval (2024)
Edith C 2025 Committee & Board Meeting Calendar

Maureen/OPYB/S R OPYB/S Update
Maureen/AYSO R AYSO Update

November
Jan/Board Pres. R Annual Review of Park District Attorney

Mitch C Working Budget (Departmental Goals)
Mitch C Tax Levy Ordinance for 2024
Mitch C Budget and Appropriation Ordinance 2024
Mitch C Tax Levy and Budget Appropriation Public Hearings

Jan C D97 IGA - Facilities (2028)
Edith C Credentials Certificate for the IAPD Annual Meeting

Mitch R 2024 Parks Report Card
Paula C Personnel Policy Manual Update

Jan C Administrative and Board Policy Manual Update
Paula/Joe C Safety Manual Update

Jan C Crisis Management Plan Update
Mitch C Abatement Ordinances for 2019 & 2020 Bonds
Chris C Tree Pruning & Removal Contract (2026)



Page 4  2024 Board Action Calendar  

 
December

Maureen R Report on Annual Accomplishments 
Jan/Edith C Update Board Action Calendar
Jan/Edith C Letter to WSSRA of Appointment of Representatives
Maureen C PACT Agreements

Jan C Comprehensive Strategic Master Plan (2028)
Edith C Bi-Annual Review of Executive Session Minutes

Maureen R Active Adult Advisory Committee (AAAC) Update 
Patti/Jan C FOPCON Agreement (2025)

Chris R PDOP Climate Action Plan Update
Maureen C Program Guide Bid (2026) 

Chris C District Cleaning Contract (2025)



 

 

Marianne Birko, Secretary 
WSSRA Board of Directors 
2915 Maple Street 
Franklin Park, IL 60131 
 
Dear WSSRA Board Secretary: 
 
At the December 21, 2023, Regular Board Meeting, the governing board of the Park District of 
Oak Park made the following appointments to the WSSRA Board of Directors.  
  
 Regular Representative: Jan Arnold, Executive Director 
     PDOP, 218 Madison St., Oak Park, IL 60302 
     312-259-7359 cell, 708-725-2020 work 
     Jan.Arnold@pdop.org 
 
 
 Alternate:   Jake Worley-Hood, Park Board Commissioner 
     PDOP, 218 Madison St., Oak Park, IL 60302 
     312-961-6006 cell 
     Jake.Worley-Hood@pdop.org 
 
It is the understanding of this (Park District/Village) that the role of the representative, regular 
or alternate, as a voting member of the WSSRA Board is to set policy and authorize the 
expenditure of funds contributed by association members. The (Park District/Village) also agrees 
that actions taken by the WSSRA Board are binding upon the district/village, as if they were taken 
by the District/Village.  
 
In accordance with the Amended and Restated Articles of Agreement of WSSRA, these 
appointments are effective for a period of one year, until December 31, 2024. 
 
Sincerely,  
 
 
President of the Partner Board 



Park District of Oak Park  
 218 Madison Street ▪ Oak Park, Illinois 60302 ▪ phone: (708) 725-2000 ▪ fax: (708) 725-2301 ▪ www.pdop.org 

 

Memo 

To: David Wick, Chair, Administration and Finance Committee 
Board of Park Commissioners 

From: Jan Arnold, Executive Director 

Date: December 1, 2023 

Re: Bi-Annual Review and Release of Closed Session Minutes 

Statement 

In accordance with the Open Meetings Act, the Board is required to review closed session minutes semi-annually to 
determine whether the need for confidentiality still exists as to all or parts of the minutes. The review includes all closed 
session minutes that have not previously been released for public inspection. 
 
Minutes, or portions of minutes, will be made available for public inspection if the Board determines that confidential 
treatment is no longer required. It is again time for the Board to review closed session minutes. 

Discussion 

The Board Secretary, Executive Director, and General Counsel have reviewed the closed session minutes 
previously not released for August 21, 2014, September 25, 2014, and new closed session minutes since the last 
review and release date for June 26, 2023, and July 20, 2023, and they have determined that the need for 
confidentiality still exists for the minutes of August 21, 2014, and September 25, 2014. Each of the 
Commissioners may review all of the closed session minutes and pass along their comments about confidentiality 
by December 12, 2023. I will assume that a commissioner who does not contact me has agreed with the 
determination of the Board Secretary, myself, and General Counsel. 

Recommendation 

Staff recommends that the Park Board continue to hold identified closed session minutes from August 21, 2014 
and September 25, 2014 and release June 20, 2023, and July 20, 2023, at this time. 



 
 

Park District of Oak Park  
 218 Madison Street  ▪  Oak Park, Illinois 60302  ▪  ph: (708) 725-2000  ▪ fx: (708) 383-5702 ▪  www.pdop.org 

 

 

Memo  
 
To: Commissioner Sandy Lentz, Chair 

Recreation & Facility Program Committee 
  
From: Maureen McCarthy, Superintendent of Recreation 
  
CC: Jan Arnold, Executive Director 
 
Date: December 4, 2023 

 
Re: PACT Facility Use License Agreements for 2024 

Statement 
 
In 2011, the Park District of Oak Park created and introduced a Facility Use and Allocation Management Program 
entitled PACT, which was launched in 2012. This acronym refers to the four organizational levels within the program: 
Partner, Associate, Companion, and Tenant. The program is intended to establish a fair, equitable, and cost-effective 
system in which to manage the reservation, allocation, and use of Park District facilities by user groups and 
organizations requesting facility access. In 2016 the program was reviewed and in 2017 changes to the way 
organizations pay for space was changed to a system where fields are paid for by the hour rather than flat fees based 
on the number of participants.   
 
Discussion 
 
All 2024 PACT applications received have been processed, and each organization has been contacted with their 
designated placement level based on PACT program compliance criteria. Organizations classified at the Partner, 
Associate and Companion levels have been provided their Facility Use License Agreements for execution. Tenant 
level Organizations are not required to enter into a Facility Use License Agreement but instead receive a rental 
discount off normal rates for the year. Facility Use License Agreements are designed to outline the responsibilities, 
requirements, privileges and expectations of both the PACT participating organization and the Park District. All 
organizations were notified that agreements are being placed before the Board for review in December. Some 
organizations have provided executed agreements, others are still in the process of review and discussion, and some 
have been denied entry as a result of their inability to meet core compliance criteria. Please see the following 
information which identifies the organizations that applied and are eligible for the PACT program along with their 
placement level and status.  As a result, most but not all PACT Agreements are ready for Park Board consideration.   
 
 
 

 

 

 



 Page 2 
 

 
 
 
 
    
In Packet: 
     
PACT Organization  Level 
Fenwick High School  Partner 
SEOPCO  Partner 
Troop 20  Partner 
*Ascension  Partner 
*St. Giles  Partner  
Windmills        Tenant 

*Waiting for signed agreement from PACT Group 

 
Not In Packet due to 3 Year Signed Agreement 2023-2025: 
 
PACT Organization       Level 
AYSO         Associate 
OPYBS         Associate 
Chicago Edge        Companion 
East Ave Lacrosse       Companion 
OPRF Alliance        Companion 
OPRFYU        Companion 
OPRFYF        Companion 
Pony         Companion 
 

Recommendation 
 
Staff recommends that the Board approve all the PACT Facility Use License Agreements provided and fully 
executed.  Staff will be in attendance at the meeting to review the PACT program applications, level 
classifications and proposed agreements as well as to answer any questions of the Board.   
 























	 -1-	

PARK	DISTRICT	OF 	OAK	PARK	

FACILITIES	USE	LICENSE	AGREEMENT	
WITH	OAK	PARK	WINDMILLS	ORGANIZATION 	

	
	 This	Facilities	Use	License	Agreement	 (“License	Agreement”)	 is	entered	 into	between	 the	Park	District	of	
Oak	Park	(the	“Park	District”)	Oak	Park		Windmills	(“WINDMILLS);		

	 WHEREAS,	the	Park	District	owns	and	operates	parks,	recreation	centers,	and	related	facilities	(collectively	
the	“Facilities”)	for	the	residents	of	the	Village	of	Oak	Park	and	maintains	coordinated	schedules	for	the	use	of	the	
Facilities;	and	

	 WHEREAS,	WINDMILLS	is	one	of	the	organizations	that	use	the	Facilities;	and	

	 WHEREAS,	 the	 Park	District	 has	 established	 a	 Facilities	 use	 and	 allocation	management	 program	 called	
PACT	(Partner,	Associate,	Companion,	Tenant)	for	the	efficient,	cost-effective,	fair	allocation	and	scheduling	of	the	
Facilities	among	those	organizations;	and	

	 WHEREAS,	 WINDMILLS	 desires	 to	 use	 certain	 Facilities	 for	 its	 programs,	 which	 are	 described	 in	 this	
License	Agreement;	and	

	 WHEREAS,	 the	 Park	 District	 and	 WINDMILLS	 desire	 to	 enter	 into	 this	 Agreement	 to	 set	 forth	 the	
responsibilities,	requirements,	expectations	of	the	parties	related	to	the	WINDMILLS’s	use	of	the	Facilities;	

	 NOW,	THEREFORE,	it	is	agreed	by	the	Park	District	and	WINDMILLS	as	follows:	

I.	 Grant	of	License	for	Authorized	Use	

	 The	Park	District	hereby	grants	to	the	WINDMILLS	a	temporary	license	(the	“License”)	for	the	purpose	of	
allowing	the	WINDMILLS	to	conduct	the	following:	

Classification:	 Tenant	

Approved	Facilities:	 Park	District	managed	facilities	&	athletic	fields	 		 	 	

Nature	of	use:	 Practices,	games,	meetings	&	registrations	 	 	 	

Times	of	Use:	 Fields	without	lights	are	sunrise	to	sunset	with	permit	

	 Fields	with	lights	are	sunrise	until	the	auto-timed	lights	turn	off	

	 Facilities	with	permit	 	

Special	Features:	 Bathrooms	may	close	after	10/31	due	to	weather	conditions	 	 	 	 	

																																		 		

These	terms	constitute	the	“Authorized	Use”	and	the	License	is	for	the	Authorized	Use	only.	

	

	



	 -2-	

II.	 Term	of	License;	Termination	

	 The	License	is	for	a	term	commencing	on	January	1,	2024	and	expiring	on	December	31,	2024	(the	“License	
Term”).	 	The	Park	District,	at	 its	discretion	for	cause,	may	terminate	the	License	at	any	time	on	seven	days	prior	
written	notice	by	the	Park	District	to	the	WINDMILLS,	or	at	any	time,	with	or	without	advance	notice,	in	the	event	
of	an	unforeseen	emergency.		For	purposes	of	this	agreement,	"cause"	means,	among	other	things,	noncompliance	
by	WINDMILLS	of	any	of	its	obligations	hereunder	that	has	not	been	cured	within	30	days	after	the	Park	District	
gives	written	notice	to	WINDMILLS	of	the	noncompliance.		On	termination	of	the	License,	all	use	of	the	Approved	
Facilities	by	the	WINDMILLS	must	be	discontinued	immediately.		The	termination	of	the	License	will	not	terminate	
the	duties	and	responsibilities	of	the	WINDMILLS	to	repair	and	restore	damaged	property	and	to	pay	for	all	costs	
incurred	by	the	Park	District	in	repair	and	restoring	damaged	property	in	accordance	with	this	Agreement.	

III.	 Pricing		

	 PACT	organizations	in	the	Tenant	level	do	not	have	participant	fees	and	do	not	receive	allotted	facility	use	
hours.		The	hourly	rate	for	Windmills	is	$46/Hour.	 	

IV.	 Bond	

	 For	 this	 License,	 there	 is	 no	 bond	 required	 from	 the	 WINDMILLS.	 	 A	 bond	 may	 be	 required	 for	 any	
extended,	renewed,	or	new	license.	

V.	 Insurance	

	 During	the	License	Term,	the	WINDMILLS	shall	provide	commercial	general	liability	(“CGL”)	insurance	with	
a	limit	of	not	less	than	$1,000,000	each	occurrence,	$2,000,000	aggregate.		The	Park	District	must	be	included	as	an	
insured	 under	 the	 CGL	 insurance	 policy,	 using	 ISO	 additional	 insured	 endorsement	 CG	 20	 26	 or	 a	 substitute	
providing	equivalent	coverage.		WINDMILLS	represents	and	warrants	it	uses	no	owned	vehicles	in	connection	with	
its	utilization	of	 the	Parks.	 	 If	WINDMILLS	at	any	time	uses	a	vehicle	 in	connection	with	 its	use	of	 the	Approved	
Facilities,	then	WINDMILLS	must	provide,	in	advance,	motor	vehicle	insurance	coverage	not	less	than	$1,000,000.		
The	 Park	 District	 must	 be	 named	 as	 an	 additional	 insured	 under	 the	 motor	 vehicle	 insurance	 policy.	 	 The	
WINDMILLS	must	 file	proof	of	all	required	 insurance	coverage	with	the	Park	District	prior	to	commencement	of	
the	Authorized	Use.	

	
VI.	 Coach/Volunteer	Background	Checks	
	
Before	a	coach/volunteer	may	participate	in	the	Approved	Use	or	in	any	other	capacity	with	the	WINDMILLS	using	
Park	District	Facilities,	 that	coach/volunteer	must	undergo	a	Criminal	Background	Check	(“CBC”.)	 	The	failure	of	
the	WINDMILLS	to	comply	with	the	provisions	of	this	Subsection	VI	may	disqualify	the	WINDMILLS	from	engaging	
in	 the	Authorized	Use.	 	A	CBC	must	be	completed	 for	a	coach/volunteer	every	two	years.	The	WINDMILLS	must	
keep	a	list	of	all	 its	coaches/volunteers	and	the	date	on	which	the	CBC	was	completed	for	each	coach/volunteer,	
and	 prohibit	 a	 coach/volunteer	 from	 participating	 in	 the	 Approved	 Use	 or	 in	 any	 other	 capacity	 with	 the	
WINDMILLS	using	any	Park	District	Facilities	until	a	CBC	has	been	completed	and	cleared	for	that	coach/volunteer.	
	
	 A.	 Background	Checks	Conducted	By	WINDMILLS.		Prior	to	the	commencement	of	the	Approved	Use,	
the	WINDMILLS	must	provide	to	the	Park	District,	for	Park	District	approval,	an	affidavit	signed	by	an	authorized	
WINDMILLS	representative	that	all	their	coaches/volunteers	have	completed	a	CBC.	
	
	 B.	 Background	Checks	Conducted	through	the	Park	District	Background	Check	System.		If	WINDMILLS	
chooses	 to	go	 through	 the	Park	District’s	online	CBC	 for	 their	coaches/volunteers,	 the	coach/volunteer	needs	 to	
visit	the	Park	District’s	website	at	www.pdop.org/volunteer	to	fill	out	the	form.		WINDMILLS	will	need	to	submit	a	
list	of	the	coaches/volunteers	that	will	be	conducting	their	CBC	through	the	Park	District	to	the	Park	District	prior	
to	 the	 coach/volunteer	 submitting	 their	 background	 check.	 	 The	 Park	 District	 will	 get	 notification	 if	 a	



	 -3-	

coach/volunteer	does	not	clear	the	CBC	and	will	notify	WINDMILLS.		WINDMILLS	will	be	charged	the	same	fee	for	
each	CBC	that	 the	Park	District	 is	charged;	at	 this	 time	 the	 fee	per	CBC	 is	$9.95.	Failure	of	a	coach/volunteer	 to	
properly	complete	the	CBC	form	disqualifies	the	coach/volunteer	from	participating	in	the	Authorized	Use.				
	
VII.	 Park	District	Services	

	 The	Park	District	will	endeavor	to	provide	the	following	for	the	WINDMILLS:	

• A	staff	member	or	 elected	official	 to	 serve	 as	 a	 liaison	 to	 the	WINDMILLS	and	who	will	 endeavor	 to	
attend	WINDMILLS	board	meetings	if	requested.	

• Limited	publicity	 in	the	 form	of	organization	contact	 information	 in	Park	District	Program	Brochures	
and	on	the	Park	District’s	website.	

• The	opportunity	to	post	organization	registration	information	signs	at	Facilities	designated	in	advance	
by	the	Park	District	for	time	period	designated	by	the	Park	District.	

• The	opportunity	to	advertise	in	the	Park	District’s	program	brochures	at	rates	set	by	the	Park	District.	

• Access	to	bathrooms	in	community	centers	during	times	in	which	activities	are	customarily	scheduled.	

• Preference	for	scheduling	of	the	Authorized	Use	in	accordance	with	the	Park	District’s	PACT	Policies.	

• Use	of	Park	District	Facilities	for	annual	registration	and	meeting	opportunities,	based	on	availability.	

• Park	District	will	 line,	maintain	 fields	 and	be	 responsible	 for	 setting	up	 and	placing	 goals	 for	 games	
only.	

VIII.	 WINDMILLS	Additional	Responsibilities	

	 The	WINDMILLS	will	comply	with	the	following:	

• Educating	 and	 enforcing	 coaches,	 players,	 volunteers	 and	 spectators	 on	 the	 Park	 District	 of	 Oak	
Park’s	Code	of	Conduct	which	can	be	found	at		www.pdop.org/programs/youth	

• In	all	of	its	services	and	programs,	comply	with	the	standards	and	requirements	of	the	Americans	
with	Disabilities	Act,	 the	Civil	Rights	Act	of	1964	and	the	Illinois	Human	Rights	Act.	 	WINDMILLS	
will	not	discriminate	on	the	basis	of	race,	religion,	sexual	orientation,	national	origin	or	any	other	
recognized	protected	class.	

• Maintain	a	sound,	functioning	board	that	meets	on	a	regular	basis.	

• Provide	 a	 representative	 to	 attend	 meetings	 of	 the	 Park	 District’s	 Board	 of	 Commissioners	 as	
requested	by	the	Park	District.	

• File	annually	a	copy	of	 their	governing	by-laws	and	proof	of	 their	status	as	Sec	501(C)(3)	not	 for	
profit	organization.		

• Maintain	its	own	financial	accounts	and	forbid	everyone	within	the	WINDMILLS	from	incurring	any	
expense	for	or	in	the	name	of	the	Park	District.		

• Forbid	everyone	within	 the	WINDMILLS	 from	making	 representations	or	 commitments	 for	or	on	
behalf	of	the	Park	District	



	 -4-	

• File	an	Incident	Report	with	the	Park	District	immediately	after	the	incident	occurs	if	the	incident	
was	caused	by	or	arose	related	to	a	Park	District	Facilities	or	an	action	taken	by	the	Park	District. 

• Upon	request,	provide	financial	scholarship	information	and	where	this	scholarship	information	is	
distributed	for	community	awareness.		

• Upon	request,	provide	annual	financial	reports	and	written	minutes.	

• WINDMILLS	is	solely	responsible	for	any	and	all	supervision	associated	with	its	use	of	the	Facilities. 

• Conduct all of its activities safely and properly and maintain the Approved Facilities in a 
safe condition during each Authorized Use. 

• Immediately alert the Park District of any damage made to Facilities.  WINDMILLS will be 
responsible for any damage done to Facilities beyond normal wear and tear and shall fully 
and promptly reimburse Park District for all costs/expenses incurred.  

• WINDMILLS	 shall	 defend,	 indemnify	 and	 hold	 harmless	 Park	 District,	 it’s	 officials,	 officers,	
employees,	 volunteers	 and	 agents	 against	 any	 and	 all	 losses	 and	 expenses	 (including	 reasonable	
attorneys’	fees,)	claims,	costs,	causes	of	action,	damage	to	property,	arising	out	of	or	in	consequence	
of	the	Agreement,	but	only	to	the	extent	such	injuries	of	damages	arise	out	of	any	act	or	omission	of	
WINDMILLS,	 including	WINDMILLS’s	officers,	officials,	employees,	volunteers,	agents,	contractors,	
team	participants,	guests	and	invitees.	

• Determine	whether	the	grounds	are	safe,	suitable	and	appropriate	for	any	of	its	intended	activities	
and	 inspect	 the	 property	 prior	 to	 each	 use	 to	 determine	 the	 suitability	 of	 the	 Facilities	 for	 any	
contemplated	use	and	identify	any	potential	safety	hazards	or	dangerous	conditions	immediately.	

• Adhere	to	all	safety	programs	and	standards	set	by	the	Park	District	while	on	the	Facilities.	

• Alcohol	and/or	illegal	drugs	are	not	permitted	at	any	time	during	the	Approved	Use.	

• Adhere	to	all	Park	District	policies	and	directives	related	to	use	of	wet	fields.			

• WINDMILLS	 is	 responsible	 for	 conveying	 to	 their	 coaches/volunteers/players	 regarding	 severe	
weather	conditions.	

• WINDMILLS	understands	and	agrees	that	the	Park	District	does	not	assume	care,	custody	or	control	
of	 any	personal	 property	 or	 equipment	brought	 on	 the	 Facilities.	 	 Park	District	 does	not	 assume	
liability	for	property	lost,	damaged	or	stolen	on	Facilities.	

• Prior	to	the	first	day	of	WINDMILLS’s	permits,	all	permits	that	WINDMILLS	does	not	need	must	be	
given	back	to	the	Park	District.	 	Failure	to	give	back	permits	prior	to	start	of	season	will	result	 in	
payment	of	said	permits.			

• Report	 to	 the	 Park	 District	 Weather	 Related	 Cancellations	 within	 one	 week	 of	 weather	 event.							
Weather	 events	 reported	 later	 than	 one	 week	 after	 said	 event	 will	 result	 in	 WINDMILLS	 being	
responsible	for	payment	of	those	permits.				

• There	are	no	 rainouts	on	 the	 turf	 fields	which	 includes	Brooks	Middle	School,	 Irving	Elementary	
School,	Julian	Middle	School	and	Ridgeland	Commons.	

	

	



	 -5-	

IX.	 Carry	In/Carry	Out	

	 WINDMILLS	 will	 comply	 with	 The	 Park	 District’s	 Greening	 Advisory	 Committee	 Carry	 In/Carry	 Out	
Program	to	reduce	trash,	keep	parks	clean,	increase	environmental	awareness	and	stewardship.		WINDMILLS	will	
carry	out	what	they	carry		in	to	the	Facilities.			

	

X.	 Specific	Terms	of	Agreement	

	 This	Agreement	includes	the	Specific	Terms	of	Agreement.	
	
	 WHEREFORE,	the	Park	District	and	the	WINDMILLS	have	caused	this	License	Agreement	to	be	executed	by		
authorized	representatives.		
	 	
	
PARK	DISTRICT	OF	OAK	PARK	
	
	
By:	 ____________________________________________________	 	 Date:	________________________________	
	 	 	 President	
	 	
OAK	PARK	WINDMILLS		
	
	
By:	 _____________________________________________________	 Date:	_____11-15-2023_____________	
	 	
Printed	name:	 _______Benjamin	Stone	
	
Title:	 _____President,	Oak	Park	Windmills	











Page 1 of 6 

A PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN THE PARK DISTRICT OF OAK PARK 

AND ASCENSION PARISH AND SCHOOL 
FOR SHARED USE OF FACILITIES AND SUPPORTING SERVICES 

 
 THIS AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of January 1, 2024 
(the “Effective Date”) between the Park District of Oak Park, an Illinois park district, (the “Park 
District”) and Ascension Parish and School of the Catholic Bishop of Chicago, an Illinois 
corporation (“Ascension”); 
 
 WHEREAS, the Park District has a program through which it partners with other Oak 
Park organizations to share facilities and services; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Ascension and the Park District desire to enter as partners into this 
Agreement for the sharing of certain facilities for their programs; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, the Park District and Ascension agree as follows: 
 
SECTION 1. SHARED FACILITIES AND SERVICES 
 
 The Park District will share certain of its play fields with Ascension as stated in 
Appendix A attached to and by this reference incorporated into this Agreement, and Ascension 
will share certain gymnasium and other space at its school building with the Park District also as 
stated in Appendix A (each a “Shared Facility” and collectively the “Shared Facilities”).  The 
Park District and Ascension may modify the list of Shared Facilities from time to time in writing, 
without formal amendment of this Agreement. 
 
SECTION 2. USE OF SHARED FACILITIES 

 
A. Requests in Writing.  The Park District and Ascension each may use the other’s 

Shared Facilities as stated in Appendix A.  In addition, each party may request from time to time, 
in writing, additional use of a Shared Facility of the other party (an “Additional Use”). 

 
B. Responses to Requests.  All requests shall be answered in writing within 10 

working days after receipt.  A host party may decline a request for an Additional Use at its 
discretion, but the parties will endeavor to allow an Additional Use whenever reasonably 
possible.   

C. Cancellation of Approved Event or Program.  The host party will endeavor not to 
cancel or postpone the use by the guest party of a Shared Facility that is stated in Appendix A or 
that has been approved as an Additional Use.  The host party, in the case of a conflict or other 
circumstance that cannot reasonably be resolved, may cancel or postpone the guest party’s use of 
a Shared Facility on 72-hours written notice or, if 72-hours written notice is impractical, then as 
much advance notice as possible.  The host party will cooperate with the guest party to relocate 
or reschedule the affected program. 

 
D. Compliance with Policies, Ordinances, and Procedures.  The guest party and its 

staff members and participants must comply with all applicable rules and policies of the host 
party relating to conduct and use of the Shared Facility. 



Page 2 of 6 

 
E. Normal Maintenance.  Each party will undertake all normal and routine 

maintenance of its own facilities at no cost to the guest party.  In the case of the Park District’s 
play fields, the Park District will undertake routine maintenance.  Ascension will perform some 
routine tasks relating to the use of the play fields, such as equipment setup if any, and other 
similar preparation for play. 

 
F.  Clean-Up of Debris.  The guest party is responsible for cleaning up litter and 

debris generated as a direct result of the guest party’s use of a Shared Facility.  Ascension must 
adopt and follow sound environmental practices, including, among other measures, encouraging 
use of reusable water and juice containers and other waste reduction measures and proper 
disposal of recyclable products.  The Park District also expects support and communication to 
your participants of the Carry In – Carry Out program to reduce waste in the parks. 

 
G. Reasonable Care.  Each time a guest party uses a Shared Facility, the guest party 

will take reasonable care to prevent damage to, or unusual wear and tear to, that facility, 
including without limitation damage or unusual wear and tear to turf, materials, and equipment. 

 
H. Repairs.  The guest party will promptly repair at its expense, or pay the host party 

for the repair, of any damage or unusual wear and tear to a Shared Facility, including without 
limitation turf, materials, and equipment, caused by the guest party’s use, which repair will be 
undertaken at a time and in a manner agreed to by the parties.  Ascension will not be responsible 
for large-scale re-sodding of a play field but may be responsible for replacing portions of sod on 
a play field if the sod is severely damaged from misuse, abuse, or other extraordinary activity 
conducted by Ascension. 

 
I. Responsibility for Own Personnel.  Each party shall be fully and solely 

responsible for its own employees, contracted services, and other agents including without 
limitation responsibility for supervision, direction, compensation, insurance, risk, liability, and 
claims. 

 
SECTION 3. GENERAL LIABILITY INSURANCE 

 
A. General Standard.  Each party will provide its standard insurance coverage for its 

facilities.  Each guest party will be responsible for procuring any additional insurance coverage it 
desires for its events and programs using the facilities, materials, equipment, or supplies of the 
host party. 

 
B. Commercial General Liability Insurance.  Each party will keep in force 

commercial general liability insurance specifically including bodily injury, personal injury and 
property damage with limits of not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence, written on an occurrence 
basis and times naming the other party as an additional insured. 

 
C. Certificates of Insurance; Notice.  Each party will furnish to the other party 

certificates and endorsements, or other suitable evidence of the insurance and coverage in place 
as required in this Section, including the requirement of a 30-day notice of any cancellation or 
any reduction in limits. 

 



Page 3 of 6 

SECTION 4.  INDEMNITY 
 

A. Indemnity by Park District.  The Park District will indemnify, defend, and save 
and hold harmless Ascension and its officers, officials, volunteers, employees, and agents from 
any and all liability, damage, cost, expense, cause of action, suits, claims, or judgments resulting 
from injury to person or property of others on a Ascension facility that arises out of any act or 
omission of the Park District, including its officials, officers, employees, volunteers, agents, 
invitees, guests, and patrons occurring or alleged to have occurred in whole or in part in 
connection with the use of the Shared Facilities or services described herein.  Ascension agrees 
that, in the event any claim is asserted or any action brought to recover any such damage, 
Ascension will give immediate notice thereof in writing to the Park District and will cooperate in 
the investigation and defense of any such claim or action, and that the handling and settlement of 
any such action will be performed and concluded by the Park District, except that Ascension 
shall approve the terms of the settlement, which approval shall not be unreasonable withheld.  
Ascension agrees to notify the Park District in writing within five business days and by 
telephone immediately after Ascension receives any such complaint or claim.  The delivery of 
written notification will include a copy of all pleadings if a complaint is filed or of all 
correspondence and exhibits if a claim is filed. 

 
B. Indemnity by Ascension.  Ascension will indemnify, defend, and save and hold 

harmless the Park District and its officers, officials, volunteers, employees, and agents from any 
and all liability, damage, cost, expense, cause of action, suits, claims, or judgments resulting 
from injury to person or property of others on a Park District facility that arises out of any act or 
omission of Ascension, including its officials, officers, employees, volunteers, agents, invitees, 
guests, and patrons  occurring or alleged to have occurred in whole or in part in connection with 
the use of the Shared Facilities or services described herein. The Park District agrees that, in the 
event any claim is asserted or any action brought to recover any such damage, the Park District 
will give immediate notice thereof in writing to Ascension and will cooperate in the investigation 
and defense of any such claim or action, and that the handling and settlement of any such action 
will be performed and concluded by Ascension, except that Ascension shall approve the terms of 
the settlement, which approval shall not be unreasonable withheld.  The Park District agrees to 
notify Ascension in writing within five business days and by telephone immediately after the 
Park District receives any such complaint or claim.  The delivery of written notification will 
include a copy of all pleadings if a complaint is filed or of all correspondence and exhibits if a 
claim is filed. 

 
C. Assertion of Defenses.  The insurer of the party providing the indemnification 

will be allowed to raise, on behalf of the indemnified party, any and all defenses statutory or 
common law to a claim or action that the indemnified party might have raised, including but not 
limited to any defense provided by the Illinois Governmental and Governmental Employees Tort 
Immunity Act, 745 ILCS 10/1-101 et seq. 

 
SECTION 5. GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 

A. Term.  This Agreement is a term commencing on the Effective Date and expiring 
on December 31, 2024 (the “Term”).  The parties may extend the Term of this Agreement one or 
more times for a total length of time not exceeding two additional years by signing a written 
determination to do so at any time before the expiration of the current Term. 

 



Page 4 of 6 

B. Assignment Prohibited.  Neither party may assign any right, privilege, duty, or 
responsibility established in this Agreement at any time except only with the prior written 
consent of the other party. 

 
C. Termination.  Either party may terminate this Agreement on 120 days written 

notice to the other party, except that this Agreement may not be terminated in a manner that 
unreasonably interferes with the completion of a program of finite a term within a Shared 
Facility and, if necessary, the term of this Agreement as it applies to that Shared Facility will be 
extended to accommodate the conclusion of that program. 

 
D. Notice.  Any notice or communication required or permitted to be given under 

this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be delivered (i) personally, (ii) by a reputable 
overnight courier, (iii) by certified mail, return receipt requested, and deposited in the U.S. Mail, 
postage prepaid, or (iv) by facsimile.  Facsimile notices shall be deemed valid only to the extent 
that they are actually received by the individual to whom addressed and are followed by delivery 
of actual notice in the manner described in either (i), (ii) or (iii) above within three business days 
thereafter at the appropriate address set forth below.  Unless otherwise expressly provided in this 
Agreement, notices shall be deemed received upon the earlier of (a) actual receipt, or (b) one 
business day after deposit with an overnight courier as evidenced by a receipt of deposit, or (c) 
three business days after deposit in the U.S. mail, as evidenced by a return receipt.  Each party 
may change the address or the addressee, or both, for all future notices and communications to 
that party, but no notice of a change of addressee or address shall be effective until actually 
received. 
 
Notices and communications shall be addressed and delivered as follows: 
 

 If to Ascension:     If to the Park District: 
 Ascension School     Park District of Oak Park 
 601 Van Buren Street     c/o Executive Director 
 Oak Park, Illinois  60304    218 Madison Street 
 Attn:  Principal     Oak Park, Illinois  60302 
 

  
 With copies to: 
 Ascension School 
 601 Van Buren Street 
 Oak Park, Illinois  60304 
 Attn:  Pastor 
 

  
The Archdiocese of Chicago 

 835 North Rush Street 
 Chicago, Illinois  60611 
 Attention: Office of Legal Services 
 
 

E. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the 
parties as to the matters stated in this Agreement and supersedes any and all prior agreements 
and negotiations between the parties related to those matters, whether written or oral. 

 



Page 5 of 6 

F. Amendments and Modifications.  Except as specifically provided in this 
Agreement for Appendix A, this Agreement may not be amended or modified in any way except 
in writing and approved and executed by the Park District and Ascension 

 
G. No Waiver, Enforcement.  The failure by a party to insist on strict performance of 

any covenant, warranty, or condition or to enforce any of its rights under this Agreement in any 
instance may not be construed as a waiver in any subsequent insistence on strict performance or 
enforcement. 
 

H. No Third-Party Beneficiaries.  This Agreement is entered into solely for the 
benefit of the Park District and Ascension, and nothing in this Agreement is intended to provide 
any right or benefit of any kind whatsoever to any person or entity other than the Park District 
and Ascension. 
 

I. No Agency or Partnership.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed or 
construed to create the relationship of principal and agent, partnership, joint venture, or any 
association between the parties other than the sharing of space and services as specifically 
described herein. 

 
J. Illinois Law Applies.  This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State 

of Illinois. 
 
 WHEREFORE, the Park District and Ascension have caused this Agreement to be 
executed by their duly authorized representatives as of the Effective Date. 
 
Park District of Oak Park 
 
By: ________________________________________ Date: ______________ 
Printed name: ________________________________________ 
Title: ________________________________________ 

 
The Catholic Bishop of Chicago 
 
By: ________________________________________ Date: ______________ 
Printed name: Eric Wollan______________________________ 

Title: Director of Capital Assets________________ 
 
 
 Acknowledged by:  
 ________________________________________ 

Father Carl Morello 
Ascension Parish



Page 6 of 6 

APPENDIX A 
 

SHARED FACILITIES AND SUPPORTING SERVICES 
 
 
Park District of Oak Park Facilities and Services 
Total number of hours to be determined – eligible for three (3) hours of field space for one (1) 
hour of gym space provided to PDOP.    
 
Park: Park access for school picnic 

No inflatables or food vendors are allowed on park property. 
 

Soccer Field: Soccer field for school soccer program 
 
Park District will: 

Line fields and provide goals for games 
Attempt to accommodate changes to the identified schedule and dates based upon 
availability. 

 
Ascension will: 

Examine playfield and equipment before use to assure safe conditions 
Report poor conditions to the Park District 
Communication to participants of the Carry In – Carry Out program to reduce waste in 
the parks. 
Communication regarding weather conditions to their coaches/participants/volunteers.  

 
Ascension School Facilities and Services 
 
Ascension Gymnasium   
 TBD 
   
Additional gym space T.B.D. for every hour of agreed upon gym space used by PDOP 
Ascension will receive three hours of outdoor space based on availability. 
 
Park District will: 

Provide contact information for staff assigned to use and manage activities in school 
facilities 
Report any concerns and unsafe conditions in advance of use 
Leave the facility in the same condition as found 

 
Ascension will: 

Provide a location to temporarily store sports equipment 
Cover any staffing and associated fees to help Park District patrons gain facility access or 
to monitor facility 
Attempt to accommodate changes to the identified schedule and dates based upon 
availability. 

 



Page 1 of 6 

A PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN THE PARK DISTRICT OF OAK PARK 

AND ST. GILES PARISH AND SCHOOL 
FOR SHARED USE OF FACILITIES AND SUPPORTING SERVICES 

 
 THIS AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of January 1, 2024 
(the “Effective Date”) between the Park District of Oak Park, an Illinois park district, (the “Park 
District”) and St. Giles Parish and School of the Catholic Bishop of Chicago, an Illinois 
corporation (“St. Giles”); 
 
 WHEREAS, the Park District has a program through which it partners with other Oak 
Park organizations to share facilities and services; and 
 
 WHEREAS, St. Giles and the Park District desire to enter as partners into this Agreement 
for the sharing of certain facilities for their programs; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, the Park District and St. Giles agree as follows: 
 
SECTION 1. SHARED FACILITIES AND SERVICES 
 
 The Park District will share certain of its play fields with St. Giles as stated in Appendix 
A attached to and by this reference incorporated into this Agreement, and St. Giles will share 
certain gymnasium and other space at its school building with the Park District also as stated in 
Appendix A (each a “Shared Facility” and collectively the “Shared Facilities”).  The Park 
District and St. Giles may modify the list of Shared Facilities from time to time in writing, 
without formal amendment of this Agreement. 
 
SECTION 2. USE OF SHARED FACILITIES 

 
A. Requests in Writing.  The Park District and St. Giles each may use the other’s 

Shared Facilities as stated in Appendix A.  In addition, each party may request from time to time, 
in writing, additional use of a Shared Facility of the other party (an “Additional Use”). 

 
B. Responses to Requests.  All requests shall be answered in writing within 10 

working days after receipt.  A host party may decline a request for an Additional Use at its 
discretion, but the parties will endeavor to allow an Additional Use whenever reasonably 
possible.   

C. Cancellation of Approved Event or Program.  The host party will endeavor not to 
cancel or postpone the use by the guest party of a Shared Facility that is stated in Appendix A or 
that has been approved as an Additional Use.  The host party, in the case of a conflict or other 
circumstance that cannot reasonably be resolved, may cancel or postpone the guest party’s use of 
a Shared Facility on 72-hours written notice or, if 72-hours written notice is impractical, then as 
much advance notice as possible.  The host party will cooperate with the guest party to relocate 
or reschedule the affected program. 

 
D. Compliance with Policies, Ordinances, and Procedures.  The guest party and its 

staff members and participants must comply with all applicable rules and policies of the host 
party relating to conduct and use of the Shared Facility. 



Page 2 of 6 

 
E. Normal Maintenance.  Each party will undertake all normal and routine 

maintenance of its own facilities at no cost to the guest party.  In the case of the Park District’s 
play fields, the Park District will undertake routine maintenance.  St. Giles will perform some 
routine tasks relating to the use of the play fields, such as equipment setup if any, and other 
similar preparation for play. 

 
F.  Clean-Up of Debris.  The guest party is responsible for cleaning up litter and 

debris generated as a direct result of the guest party’s use of a Shared Facility.  St. Giles must 
adopt and follow sound environmental practices, including, among other measures, encouraging 
use of reusable water and juice containers and other waste reduction measures and proper 
disposal of recyclable products.  The Park District also expects support and communication to 
your participants of the Carry In – Carry Out program to reduce waste in the parks. 

 
G. Reasonable Care.  Each time a guest party uses a Shared Facility, the guest party 

will take reasonable care to prevent damage to, or unusual wear and tear to, that facility, 
including without limitation damage or unusual wear and tear to turf, materials, and equipment. 

 
H. Repairs.  The guest party will promptly repair at its expense, or pay the host party 

for the repair, of any damage or unusual wear and tear to a Shared Facility, including without 
limitation turf, materials, and equipment, caused by the guest party’s use, which repair will be 
undertaken at a time and in a manner agreed to by the parties.  St Giles will not be responsible 
for large-scale re-sodding of a play field but may be responsible for replacing portions of sod on 
a play field if the sod is severely damaged from misuse, abuse, or other extraordinary activity 
conducted by St. Giles. 

 
I. Responsibility for Own Personnel.  Each party shall be fully and solely 

responsible for its own employees, contracted services, and other agents including without 
limitation responsibility for supervision, direction, compensation, insurance, risk, liability, and 
claims. 

 
SECTION 3. GENERAL LIABILITY INSURANCE 

 
A. General Standard.  Each party will provide its standard insurance coverage for its 

facilities.  Each guest party will be responsible for procuring any additional insurance coverage it 
desires for its events and programs using the facilities, materials, equipment, or supplies of the 
host party. 

 
B. Commercial General Liability Insurance.  Each party will keep in force 

commercial general liability insurance specifically including bodily injury, personal injury and 
property damage with limits of not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence, written on an occurrence 
basis and times naming the other party as an additional insured. 

 
C. Certificates of Insurance; Notice.  Each party will furnish to the other party 

certificates and endorsements, or other suitable evidence of the insurance and coverage in place 
as required in this Section, including the requirement of a 30-day notice of any cancellation or 
any reduction in limits. 

 



Page 3 of 6 

SECTION 4.  INDEMNITY 
 

A. Indemnity by Park District.  The Park District will indemnify, defend, and save 
and hold harmless St. Giles and its officers, officials, volunteers, employees, and agents from 
any and all liability, damage, cost, expense, cause of action, suits, claims, or judgments resulting 
from injury to person or property of others on a St. Giles facility that arises out of any act or 
omission of the Park District, including its officials, officers, employees, volunteers, agents, 
invitees, guests, and patrons occurring or alleged to have occurred in whole or in part in 
connection with the use of the Shared Facilities or services described herein.  St. Giles agrees 
that, in the event any claim is asserted or any action brought to recover any such damage, St. 
Giles will give immediate notice thereof in writing to the Park District and will cooperate in the 
investigation and defense of any such claim or action, and that the handling and settlement of 
any such action will be performed and concluded by the Park District, except that St. Giles shall 
approve the terms of the settlement, which approval shall not be unreasonable withheld.  St. 
Giles agrees to notify the Park District in writing within five business days and by telephone 
immediately after St. Giles receives any such complaint or claim.  The delivery of written 
notification will include a copy of all pleadings if a complaint is filed or of all correspondence 
and exhibits if a claim is filed. 

 
B. Indemnity by St. Giles.  St. Giles will indemnify, defend, and save and hold 

harmless the Park District and its officers, officials, volunteers, employees, and agents from any 
and all liability, damage, cost, expense, cause of action, suits, claims, or judgments resulting 
from injury to person or property of others on a Park District facility that arises out of any act or 
omission of St. Giles, including its officials, officers, employees, volunteers, agents, invitees, 
guests, and patrons  occurring or alleged to have occurred in whole or in part in connection with 
the use of the Shared Facilities or services described herein. The Park District agrees that, in the 
event any claim is asserted or any action brought to recover any such damage, the Park District 
will give immediate notice thereof in writing to St. Giles and will cooperate in the investigation 
and defense of any such claim or action, and that the handling and settlement of any such action 
will be performed and concluded by St. Giles, except that St. Giles shall approve the terms of the 
settlement, which approval shall not be unreasonable withheld.  The Park District agrees to 
notify St. Giles in writing within five business days and by telephone immediately after the Park 
District receives any such complaint or claim.  The delivery of written notification will include a 
copy of all pleadings if a complaint is filed or of all correspondence and exhibits if a claim is 
filed. 

 
C. Assertion of Defenses.  The insurer of the party providing the indemnification 

will be allowed to raise, on behalf of the indemnified party, any and all defenses statutory or 
common law to a claim or action that the indemnified party might have raised, including but not 
limited to any defense provided by the Illinois Governmental and Governmental Employees Tort 
Immunity Act, 745 ILCS 10/1-101 et seq. 

 
SECTION 5. GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 

A. Term.  This Agreement is a term commencing on the Effective Date and expiring 
on December 31, 2024 (the “Term”).  The parties may extend the Term of this Agreement one or 
more times for a total length of time not exceeding two additional years by signing a written 
determination to do so at any time before the expiration of the current Term. 

 



Page 4 of 6 

B. Assignment Prohibited.  Neither party may assign any right, privilege, duty, or 
responsibility established in this Agreement at any time except only with the prior written 
consent of the other party. 

 
C. Termination.  Either party may terminate this Agreement on 120 days written 

notice to the other party, except that this Agreement may not be terminated in a manner that 
unreasonably interferes with the completion of a program of finite a term within a Shared 
Facility and, if necessary, the term of this Agreement as it applies to that Shared Facility will be 
extended to accommodate the conclusion of that program. 

 
D. Notice.  Any notice or communication required or permitted to be given under 

this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be delivered (i) personally, (ii) by a reputable 
overnight courier, (iii) by certified mail, return receipt requested, and deposited in the U.S. Mail, 
postage prepaid, or (iv) by facsimile.  Facsimile notices shall be deemed valid only to the extent 
that they are actually received by the individual to whom addressed and are followed by delivery 
of actual notice in the manner described in either (i), (ii) or (iii) above within three business days 
thereafter at the appropriate address set forth below.  Unless otherwise expressly provided in this 
Agreement, notices shall be deemed received upon the earlier of (a) actual receipt, or (b) one 
business day after deposit with an overnight courier as evidenced by a receipt of deposit, or (c) 
three business days after deposit in the U.S. mail, as evidenced by a return receipt.  Each party 
may change the address or the addressee, or both, for all future notices and communications to 
that party, but no notice of a change of addressee or address shall be effective until actually 
received. 
 
Notices and communications shall be addressed and delivered as follows: 
 

 If to St. Giles:      If to the Park District: 
 St. Giles School     Park District of Oak Park 
 1034 Linden Avenue     c/o Executive Director 
 Oak Park, Illinois 60302    218 Madison Street 
 Attn:  Principal     Oak Park, Illinois  60302 
 

  
 With copies to: 
 St. Giles School 
 1025 Columbian Avenue 
 Oak Park, Illinois  60302 
 Attn: Pastor 
 

 The Archdiocese of Chicago 
 835 North Rush Street 
 Chicago, Illinois  60611 
 Attention: Office of Legal Services 
 
 

E. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the 
parties as to the matters stated in this Agreement and supersedes any and all prior agreements 
and negotiations between the parties related to those matters, whether written or oral. 

 



Page 5 of 6 

F. Amendments and Modifications.  Except as specifically provided in this 
Agreement for Appendix A, this Agreement may not be amended or modified in any way except 
in writing and approved and executed by the Park District and St. Giles 

 
G. No Waiver, Enforcement.  The failure by a party to insist on strict performance of 

any covenant, warranty, or condition or to enforce any of its rights under this Agreement in any 
instance may not be construed as a waiver in any subsequent insistence on strict performance or 
enforcement. 
 

H. No Third-Party Beneficiaries.  This Agreement is entered into solely for the 
benefit of the Park District and St. Giles, and nothing in this Agreement is intended to provide 
any right or benefit of any kind whatsoever to any person or entity other than the Park District 
and St. Giles. 
 

I. No Agency or Partnership.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed or 
construed to create the relationship of principal and agent, partnership, joint venture, or any 
association between the parties other than the sharing of space and services as specifically 
described herein. 

 
J. Illinois Law Applies.  This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State 

of Illinois. 
 
 WHEREFORE, the Park District and St. Giles have caused this Agreement to be 
executed by their duly authorized representatives as of the Effective Date. 
 
Park District of Oak Park 
 
By: ________________________________________ 
Printed name: ________________________________________ 
Title: ________________________________________ 

 
The Catholic Bishop of Chicago 
 
By: ________________________________________ 
Printed name: Eric Wollan 

Title: Director of Capital Assets 
 
 
 Acknowledged by:  
 ________________________________________ 

Rev. Carl Morello, Pastor 
St. Giles Parish



Page 6 of 6 

APPENDIX A 
 

SHARED FACILITIES AND SUPPORTING SERVICES 
 
 

 
Park District Facilities and Services 
 August – October: 

• St. Giles use of a Park District soccer field for practices and games, after 4:00 
PM during the week and at various times on Saturdays if available.  

• Total number of hours to be determined; eligible for three (3) hours of field space 
for one (1) hour of indoor space provided to PDOP. 

 The Park District will: 

• Line fields and provide goals for games. 

• Maintain turf suitable for play. 

• Place goals for games only. 
 St. Giles will: 

• Examine playfield and equipment before use to assure safe conditions. 

• Report poor conditions before a field is used. 

• Support and communicate to their participants of the Carry In-Carry Out program 
to reduce waste in the parks. 

 
 
St. Giles Facilities and Services  

Basketball courts or other rooms requested and available for various Park District 
activities for every hour of indoor space St. Giles will be eligible for three (3) hours of 
outdoor space based on availability. 




